1940

Kenneth White v. Kenneth J. Pinney as Pinney Beverage Company and A. C. Neslen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment made and entered in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, on April 21, 1939, in favor of Appellee and

against Appellant, and from an order made and entered by the said Court on June 30, 1939, denying appellant's motion for a new trial. (Transcript 79 and 84, Abstract 58, 61, 62).

Appellant brought this action against the defendants to recover for personal injuries. On December 23, 1938 at about 4:30 p. m., appellant's Chevrolet panel truck was parked on the west side of Highland Drive, Salt Lake City, Utah, at a point opposite 2333 South. The truck was facing south and was parallel to and within six or eight inches of the west curb. Appellant was standing behind and a little to the west of the center of the truck and was in the act of handing some flowers to a customer, the witness Maxwell, who was standing slightly to the north and east of appellant, when a wheel with considerable force struck appellant on the left leg injuring him. (Transcript 95-99 and 141-144, Abstract 18, 19). The witness, Maxwell, testified that the wheel buzzed past him and he saw it strike appellant on the leg and bounce, coming to rest on the curb. (Transcript 141-144, Abstract 18, 19.) Just as he was hit, appellant saw a fast-moving, staked-body truck with barrels on the back going north, having passed the point on the street where appellant was hit. Appellant picked up the wheel and overtook the truck which was parked in front of an inn at about 2160 South Highland Drive. Appellant noticed a hand-truck or dolly with a missing wheel hanging on the side of the truck. On this hand-truck was a wheel similar to the

wheel which had struck appellant. Appellant gave the wheel to the driver of the truck, the defendant Neslen, informing him that the wheel had struck appellant. (Transcript 100-104, Abstract 15, 16). The defendant Neslen was driving the truck for the defendant Kenneth J. Pinney on December 23, 1938 and in the late afternoon passed the point on Highland Drive where the appellant was injured, and was parked at the Dixie lunch stand in Sugar House when appellant delivered to him the wheel. (Transcript 217-224, Abstract 32-35). The defendant Neslen testified that there was a wheel missing from the hand-truck and that the wheel the plaintiff handed him looked like one of the wheels off his hand-truck and he was surprised to find plaintiff had it. (Transcript 238, Abstract 35). The witness Butterworth testified that he was delivering mail to the Dixie Lunch when the appellant with whom he was acquainted arrived there with the wheel in his hand and that the hand-truck with a wheel missing from it was hanging on the side of the truck just behind the driver's cab. (Transcript 151-154, Abstract 19-21). Upon examining the hand-truck produced in court by the defendants, the witness Butterworth testified that the wheels on it were different from the wheel which was on the hand-truck on the day of the injury and the wheel which struck appellant. The wheel which struck appellant was larger, the axle was larger, the tire covering on the wheel which struck appellant was worn and the iron showed through in a few spots. (Transcript 200, 201, Abstract 29). The appellant testified that the wheels on

the hand-truck produced in court were different from the wheel which had struck him and he pointed out the same differences as did the witness Butterworth, together with the additional difference that there was a different method of greasing the two wheels. (Transcript 207, Abstract 31).

II. SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

Appellant on this appeal has made 11 assignments of error which may be summarized as follows:

1. The trial court should have instructed the jury that the defendants were guilty of negligence as a matter of law. (Assignments of Error 1, 4, 7, 8, and 9. Abs. 66, 67).

2. The trial court should not have submitted the issue of contributory negligence to the jury. (Assignments of Error 2, 5, 6, 9, and 11. Abs. 66-68).

3. The instructions given by the trial court on contributory negligence were not confined to the contributory negligence alleged in defendants' answer, and having submitted the issue of contributory negligence to the jury the trial court should have given appellant's requested instruction No. 4. (Assignments of Error 3, 6, 9, and 11. Abs. 66-68).

4. The court usurped the prerogative of the jury in assuming as true evidence about which there was a substantial dispute. (Assignment of Error 10. Abs. 68).

III. BRIEF OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur applied to the case and the appellant was entitled to a peremptory instruction that the defendants were negligent as a matter of law.

POINT 2.

There being no evidence supporting the defense of contributory negligence, that issue should not have been submitted to the jury.

POINT 3.

The trial court erred in not limiting its instructions on contributory negligence to that contributory negligence which was alleged in the answer.

POINT 4.

Having submitted the issue of contributory negligence to the jury the court should have given appellant's requested instruction No. 4, to the effect that appellant being shielded by his truck parked parallel to the curb was under no duty to maintain a constant look-out and his failure to maintain a look-out under those circumstances may not be considered as contributory negligence.

POINT 5.

That the defendants would not be liable if the defect in their equipment was simply unknown to them was a mis-statement of the law.

POINT 6.

The trial court usurped the prerogative of the jury in assuming as true evidence about which there was a substantial dispute.

POINT 7.

That the trial court should have granted appellant's motion for a new trial.

IV. ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur applied to the case and the appellant was entitled to a peremptory instruction that the defendants were negligent as a matter of law.

There is a decided split in the authorities as to whether the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur raises a presumption of negligence or merely authorizes the jury to find negligence from the fact of the occurrence. The Supreme Court of Utah has committed itself to the view that when a thing which causes injury is shown to be under the exclusive control of the defendant, and the injury is such as, in the ordinary course of things, does not occur if the one hav-

ing such control uses proper care, it affords reasonable evidence, in the absence of an explanation, that the injury arose from the defendant's want of care. That view is expressed in *Williamson v. Salt Lake & O. Ry. Co.*, 52 Utah 84, 172 Pac. 680, and *Zoccolillo v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 53 Utah 39, 177 Pac. 201. In the latter case, the Court said, however, at page 63-64:

“It (negligence) may be inferred from such occurrence, and where no explanation is offered in such case the inference may be so strong as not only to justify, but to compel, a finding of negligence, which is the ultimate fact to be established.”

We believe that the case of *Furkovich v. Bingham Coal & Lumber Co.*, 45 Utah 89, 143 Pac. 121, supports the principle for which we are here contending. In that case the plaintiff was struck by large piece of coal which rolled down the mountainside. The plaintiff's companion went up the trail to the top of the mountain where the coal was being unloaded and found a man unloading coal out of a wagon and a pile of coal was located on the mountainside within a couple of feet from the brink of the steep incline of the mountain. In that case the trial court had instructed the jury as follows:

“You are instructed that if you should find from a preponderance of the evidence that the piece of coal which rolled down the mountain side and struck the plaintiff was a part of the coal being unloaded by the defendant at the time and place alleged in plaintiff's complaint, the rolling of such piece of coal down the steep mountain side raises

a presumption of negligence on the part of the defendant, and unless you should find from all the evidence in the case that such presumption is overcome, you should find for the plaintiff.”

The foregoing instruction was duly excepted to, but the Supreme Court upheld the instruction saying:

“If what we have said respecting the inference or presumption of negligence is correct, then it follows that the court did not err in giving the charge excepted to.”

The record in the case at bar is entirely bereft of any explanation whatever as to how the wheel flew from the hand-truck and struck the plaintiff. The defendant Neslen testified on cross-examination that he had never taken out the cotter key nor had he made any other inspection of the hand-truck, except greasing it, although the hand-truck had been used over a year (Transcript 240, Abstract 35, 36).

1 Shearman & Redfield on Negligence, 6th Ed., 130:

“Whether it (*res ipsa loquitur*) will warrant a peremptory instruction is to be determined as in other cases by the answer to the question, is there any other reasonable view of the case?”

That the circumstances may warrant a peremptory instruction is indicated by the foregoing quotation. The case of *Byrne v. Boadle*, 2 Hurlst. & C. 722, 159 Eng. Reports 299 applies the rule applicable to the case at bar. In that case plaintiff was walking in a public street past

the defendant's shop when a barrel of flour fell upon him from a window above the shop:

“We are all of opinion that the rule must be absolute to enter the verdict for the plaintiff. The learned counsel was quite right in saying that there are many accidents from which no presumption of negligence can arise, but I think it would be wrong to lay down as a rule that in no case can a presumption of negligence arise from the fact of the accident. Suppose in this case the barrel had rolled out of the warehouse and fallen on the plaintiff. However could he possibly assert from what cause it occurred? It is the duty of persons who keep barrels in a warehouse to take care that they do not roll out, and I think that such a case would, beyond all doubt, afford prima facie evidence of negligence. A barrel could not roll out of a warehouse without some negligence, and to say that a plaintiff who is injured by it must call witnesses from the warehouse to prove negligence seems to me preposterous. So in the building or repairing of a house, or putting pots on the chimneys, if a person passing along the road is injured by something falling upon him, I think the accident alone would be prima facie evidence of negligence. Or if an article calculated to cause damage is put in a wrong place and does mischief, I think that those whose duty it was to put it in the right place are prima facie responsible, and if there is any state of facts to rebut the presumption of negligence, they must prove them.”

To the same effect is the case of Cincinnati Traction Co. v. Anna Holzenkamp, 74 Ohio St. 379, 78 N. E. 529. The plaintiff was struck by the falling of a trolley pole

from an electric car. The Supreme Court of Ohio held that the trial court “was warranted in taking judicial notice of the fact, as it did, that such a thing as the breaking of the trolley pole and the falling of the trolley with a portion of the pole does not happen in the ordinary course of events, unless there was some negligence either in its construction or in the management of it; and, this being so the court very properly charged the jury that the plaintiff in the absence of any evidence tending to rebut the presumption of negligence, was entitled to recover for her injuries.”

The following cases follow the same principle:

Hogan v. Manhattan Ry. Co., Court of Appeals of New York, 43 N. E. 403;

Heidt v. People's Motorbus Co. of St. Louis (Mo.), 9 S. W. 2d 650;

Crozier v. Hawkeye Stages, Inc., et al. (Ia.) 228 N. W. 320;

Mumma v. Easton & A. R. Co. et al. (New Jersey) 65 Atl. 208;

Francisco v. Circle Tours Sight-Seeing Co. (Ore.), 265 Pac. 801;

Chesapeake & O. Ry. Co. v. Rowland (Ky.), 214 S. W. 910;

State v. Emerson & Morgan Coal Co. (Md.), 133 Atl. 601;

Gates v. Crane Co. (Conn.), 139 Atl. 782;

Feeney v. New York Waist House (Conn.), 136 Atl. 554.

POINT 2.

There being no evidence supporting the defense of contributory negligence, that issue should not have been submitted to the jury.

The record discloses the following undisputed facts: At the time of the injury the appellant was shielded behind his Chevrolet panel truck in the act of handing flowers to the witness Maxwell. Maxwell was standing between him and the balance of the street. The truck was parked parallel to and within a few inches of the curb on the west side of the street. Cars proceeding in a northerly direction would have to get over on the wrong side of the street in order to present the danger of injury to him, and that was the direction in which the truck driven by the defendant Neslen was traveling. Furthermore, from the testimony of the witness Maxwell, who said that the "wheel buzzed past me," it would be reasonable to conclude that if the appellant could have seen the wheel before it struck him, he would not have been able to dodge it. It could not be reasonably contended that the appellant could have anticipated that the wheel would fly off the hand-truck, as he never had an opportunity or a duty to inspect the hand-truck.

It is universally held that although the question of contributory negligence is generally for the jury, if the evidence is undisputed and there is no fact showing contributory negligence or from which such negligence can be reasonably inferred, then it is the positive duty of the

court to eliminate that issue from the consideration of the jury. Some tangible evidence must be introduced before the question can be left to the jury; the burden of proving the defense cannot be sustained by silence. The very purpose of instructions is to enable the jury to better understand their duty and to prevent them from arriving at erroneous and false conclusions. In submitting an issue to the jury upon which there is no evidence, that purpose is thwarted.

This point has been passed upon by this Court many times. We submit that the case of *Atwood v. Utah Light & Ry. Co.*, 44 Utah 366, 140 Pac. 137, is directly in point. In holding the plaintiff free from contributory negligence as a matter of law, the Court said:

“The facts here are not disputed, at least not with regard to respondent’s conduct. Now what was there in her conduct from which a jury or anybody else would be justified to find that anything she did or omitted to do was the proximate cause of or directly contributed to, the accident and consequent injury? . . . We can see no reason whatever why, under the undisputed evidence, respondent’s conduct should likewise have been submitted to the jury . . . As a matter of course, in cases like the one at bar, the trial courts should ordinarily submit the question of negligence to the jury; and such should be done in all cases when there is any substantial evidence upon which a finding of negligence can be based. Where, however, as here, there is no evidence, the question must be determined as one of law and not of fact.”

In the foregoing case the trial court had charged the jury as follows: "You are instructed that there is no evidence in this case of any negligence on the part of the plaintiff." It was held by this Court that no error was committed by the court in so charging the jury.

To the same effect is the case of *Maybee v. Maybee*, 79 Utah 585, 11 Pac. 2d 973; *Parks v. Tillis* (W. Va.), 164 S. E. 797.

Confirming our position is the case of *Menafée v. Monongahela Ry. Co.* (W. Va.), 148 S. E. 109. In that case plaintiff was injured by a lump of coal which fell from a moving train when the driving brakes were applied jamming the train. Quoting from the opinion:

"We conclude from the whole record that there was no occasion to submit to the jury the question of contributory negligence, because there was no appreciable basis on which to predicate such charge. The record does not disclose any act of omission or commission on the plaintiff's part which contributed to his injury. In such situation the defense of contributory negligence is a question of law for the court and not of fact for the jury (citing cases). Such being the law, the fact that contributory negligence was mentioned in instructions Nos. 1, 2, and 3 given for plaintiff and omitted in others has no weight. If contributory negligence was not an issue, the negating thereof in some of the plaintiff's instructions did not make it an issue; it was mere surplusage. It follows that the failure to negative that defense in instructions Nos. 4, 7, and 8

was not improper. For the same reason defendant's instructions Nos. 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21 and 22 were properly refused."

In appellant's requested instruction No. 2, the trial court was asked to instruct the jury that under the evidence the appellant was not guilty of contributory negligence in any way. (Transcript 24, Abstract 40). The question of contributory negligence was submitted to the jury in the following instructions: Nos. 7, 8, 10, and 13. (Transcript 58, 59, 61, 64, Abstract 45-49). The record is entirely nude of any fact which shows that appellant in lawfully standing in the street was guilty of a breach of duty, and there can be no negligence unless some duty has been violated.

In view of the evidence and of the foregoing authorities, appellant respectfully contends that the trial court committed prejudicial error in submitting the unproved issue of contributory negligence to the jury.

POINT 3.

The trial court erred in not limiting its instructions on contributory negligence to that contributory negligence which was alleged in the answer.

Appellant contends not only that the defense of contributory negligence was not proved, but certain of the trial court's instructions directed the jury to pass upon elements of contributory negligence which were not pleaded by the defendants in their answer.

In their answer the defendants alleged that the plaintiff acted in a “negligent, careless, imprudent and illegal manner in this: that at said time and place the plaintiff failed to observe any lookout for vehicles passing the point where he was standing and took no precautions whatsoever to protect himself against being injured in any manner by said vehicles so passing while the plaintiff was then and there standing in the traveled portion of the said highway.” (Transcript 14, Abstract 11, 12).

After stating some abstract propositions, the trial court, in its instruction No. 7, directed the jury as follows:

“If, therefore, you find from the evidence in this case that the plaintiff himself failed to use ordinary care for his own safety at the time and place complained of and that such failure proximately contributed to the accident and his resulting injuries, then your verdict must be in favor of the defendants, no cause of action.”

(Transcript 275, Abstract 45, 46).

A cursory reading of the instruction will serve to demonstrate its generality. It made no mention of the failure to maintain a look-out or failure to take precautions against being injured by passing vehicles, but authorized the jury to find any type of negligence.

Instruction No. 10 (Transcript 276, 277, Abstract 47) is even more objectionable:

“The jury is instructed that if it believes from the evidence that both the plaintiff and the defendant were guilty of negligence, and that the negligence of each directly contributed to the injury of the plaintiff, there can be no recovery in this case, and your verdict will be for the defendants.”

The instruction did not clarify the issue of contributory negligence for the jury; it merely contained a proposition of law; and the jury must perforce have interpreted the instruction to mean that if the plaintiff was guilty of negligence of any kind or character, pleaded or unpleaded, and if his negligence contributed to the injury which he sustained, then the jury must find against him.

Instruction No. 13 (Transcript 187, 188, Abstract 48, 49) makes the following reference to contributory negligence:

“... and, if you further find plaintiff was not negligent in being where he was and doing what he was doing, or such negligence of plaintiff, if any, did not proximately contribute to his injuries...”

The only contributory negligence pleaded consisted of acts of omission—failure to maintain look-out and to take precautions for safety. The instruction authorized a finding of negligence acts of commission, and the jury were instructed to disallow recovery if such negligence was found.

Appellant relies upon the case of *Lochhead v. Jensen*,

42 Utah 99, 129 Pac. 347, as authority for the proposition contended for under this point. Quoting from the opinion :

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