1940

Kenneth White v. Kenneth J. Pinney as Pinney Beverage Company and A. C. Neslen : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT.

While the appellant states seven points in his brief in support of his appeal, they can be boiled down to three contentions, namely:

(a) That the District Court's instructions regarding the supposed defect in the defendants' truck which caused the wheel to become loose were erroneous.

(b) That the District Court's instructions on the subject of contributory negligence were erroneous.

(c) That under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* the District Court should have granted a directed verdict for the plaintiff.

The respondent will discuss these propositions in the order just enumerated, although a different order is used in the appellant's brief.

I.

The defendants were not liable for any latent defect in the mechanism of their truck of which they had no knowledge and which a reasonable inspection and maintenance did not reveal.

A. The undisputed evidence shows that the defendants had no knowledge of any such defect and that a reasonable inspection and use of the hand truck had not revealed it.

B. The plaintiff offered no evidence whatsoever that the defendants had knowledge of such a defect or that they

were in any manner negligent in their inspection, maintenance or use of the hand truck.

(Court's Instructions Nos. 12, 13, & 14).

Before presenting the authorities on the duty of the defendants in this respect, it will be helpful to review the facts concerning it.

Neslen, the driver of the defendants' truck and his assistant, Sharp, never even knew any accident had happened until the plaintiff showed them the little wheel from the hand truck at the Dixie Inn shortly after it had struck the plaintiff. Until that time they were wholly unaware that the wheel had come off. Indeed the undisputed testimony shows that they had used the hand truck all morning and afternoon, the last time at Murray less than an hour before the accident took place—and that at all these times, the truck appeared in entirely proper working order.

Neslen testified that he had driven the International truck with the accompanying hand truck for at least a year without any trouble. Moreover, he had lubricated and inspected the wheels on the hand truck regularly once or twice a week, (T. 149), and found everything in proper order. The previous use of the hand truck on the day of the mishap showed the same result. Thus the evidence is entirely without any dispute whatsoever that the defendants had no knowledge of any defect regarding the wheels on the hand truck and although a reasonable in-

spection, made regularly, had been made, they knew of no defect whatsoever.

On the other hand, the plaintiff did not offer one word of evidence in the entire case concerning any supposed knowledge of a defect on the part of the defendants. Neither was the slightest evidence produced that the inspection regularly carried on by the defendants was either negligent or unreasonable under the circumstances. All that the record shows is that the plaintiff, while standing on the west side of a well traveled highway, was struck on the leg by a little wheel. He never saw the wheel before it struck him and never saw the defendants' truck until it was 150 to 200 feet past him going north. Later it developed that the wheel had become detached from the defendants' hand truck.

Thus the record is completely silent as to any negligent acts or omissions of duty on the part of the defendants. The respondents were and still are firmly of the opinion that, on the record, the District Court should have granted the defendants' motion for a non-suit and certainly their motion for a directed verdict.

There is now, and for many years has been, no dispute in the rule of law fixing the responsibility of the owner of a motor vehicle for defects in his machine. First we cite from the most recent texts on automobile laws:

4 Blashfield: Cyclopedia of Automobile Law and Practice, Sec. 2333, (1936):

“Save where definite statutory requirements respecting the necessary equipment of motor vehicles are not complied with, so as to make out a case of negligence per se by reason thereof, the general rule respecting injuries attributable to defects in the condition of the automobile is that a gratuitous invitee riding therein as the guest of the owner, or driver, accepts the machine of his host as he finds it, subject to the limitation that the host must not in effect set a trap by knowingly or culpably exposing invitees to the risk created by a known or obvious defect in the automobile or otherwise be guilty of active negligence in this connection contributing to the injury of guests. A trap, within the meaning of such rule, is a hidden danger lurking upon the premises, or in the automobile which is known to the host or should be known to him in the discharge of the duty for a passenger's safety which the law imposes on him and which the guest may avoid if he knows of it.

Stated differently, he is not liable for injuries suffered by guests by reason of the defective condition of the automobile, in the absence of some showing, that he knew, or, in the exercise for the safety of gratuitous passengers, should have known, of the existence of the defect, the question of whether he did have such knowledge or notice of the defect as to render him liable being one of fact.

The fact that the mechanical defect productive of the injury is one discoverable upon an inspection of the car does not show negligence on the part of the host nor authorize a recovery by the guest, and gross negligence cannot be predicted upon a failure to inspect the vehicle thoroughly before inviting another to ride; the motorist's duty in this connection, if any, being limited to the exercise of slight care. If he thinks the

automobile is in good or reasonably safe condition, although it is not, that ordinarily relieves him from any liability for defects therein.”

While the rule stated applies to passengers, it is equally pertinent to cases of injury suffered by other persons as in the present case.

3 *Huddy: Cyclopedia of Automobile Law*, (9th ed.), Sec. 71:

“Generally speaking, it is the duty of one operating a motor vehicle on the public highways to see that it is in reasonably good condition and properly equipped, so that it may be at all times controlled, and not become a source of danger to its occupants or to other travelers.

To this end, the owner or operator of a motor vehicle must exercise reasonable care in the inspection of the machine, and is chargeable with notice of everything that such inspection would disclose. This rule applies whether the operator is the owner of the vehicle or rents it from another, or permits another to use it, or lets it to another for hire. But, in the absence of anything to show that the appliances were defective, the owner or driver is not required to inspect them before using the car or permitting it to be used.”

Innumerable cases may be found which hold no liability on the part of the owner where an outsider has been injured by a defective mechanism which was unknown to the owner and had not been disclosed by a reasonable inspection. Only a few of the more recent cases will be cited.

Phillips v. Pickwick Stages,
(California App., 1927), 259 P. 968.

Here the plaintiff was injured as the defendant's bus struck him, when the driver was unable to stop the bus because the foot brake pedal suddenly broke. The verdict for the plaintiff was upheld because of the defendant's violation of a statute, but on the point involved here the California Court stated:

“Appellant contends that the accident was caused solely by the sudden breaking of the foot pedal, due to a latent defect therein, not known to defendant and not discoverable upon a most careful inspection, and that there was no negligence upon the part of the defendant. Concededly, if the sole proximate cause of the accident was due to the breaking of the foot pedal due to a latent defect which could not have been discovered upon a careful examination and inspection, appellant would not be liable.”

Bolin v. Corliss Company,
(Mass., 1928), 159 N. E. 612.

The tire and rim of the defendant's car became detached from the wheel and, after rolling across the street, struck the plaintiff. Under facts which the opinion states, the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts determined there was no liability.

“The second count is to the effect that it was the defendant's duty before permitting the use of the automobile upon the public highways to have the automobile in reasonably safe condition; that ‘the defendant negligently permitted said

automobile to go out upon the highway in such a defective and dangerous condition that a tire and rim came off and seriously injured the plaintiff.' There was nothing to show that, at the time the defendant gave permission to Casper to use the automobile, it had any knowledge the machine was then defective or unsafe for use on the public highways; and no evidence to support the plaintiff's contention that at that time the rim or tire was defective, or, even if it were defective, that reasonable inspection would have disclosed its condition. Assuming that the defendant *would be liable in permitting Casper to use a defective automobile when it knew of the defect or, as a reasonably prudent person, could have discovered it*, the plaintiff did not show that the defendant possessed such knowledge or that the defect, if it then existed, might reasonably have been discovered.'" (Italics ours.)

Westlund v. Iverson,
(Minn., 1922), 191 N. W. 253.

While driving along a road the left rear wheel of the defendant's automobile became detached, rolled onto an adjacent foot path and struck the plaintiff. There was no evidence of previous knowledge of any defective condition or of faulty inspection by the defendant. The Supreme Court of Minnesota sustained a directed verdict in favor of the defendant.

Flores v. Sullivan,
(Texas, 1937), 112 S. W. (2d) 321.

The defendant taxi cab driver had a spare wheel securely fastened on the rear of his cab. A negligent driver

of another car struck the cab and broke the spare wheel loose. It rolled into the street and struck the plaintiff. It was held that in the absence of any proof that the spare tire was not fastened securely, the plaintiff could not recover, such a remote contingency as actually occurred not being reasonably foreseeable.

Cherry Lake Farms v. Taylor,
(1939), 98 F. (2d) 571;

Phillips v. Britannia Laundry Co.,
(England, 1923), 12 B. R. C. 418, 437.

See also the numerous cases cited in foot notes by Blashfield and Huddy, quoted above.

The appellant complains that the District Court erred in its instructions on the question of the defendants' actual knowledge and negligent inspection. To support his argument he plucks out part of the last sentence of Instruction 13 and places a far fetched interpretation on it—wholly inconsistent with the actual context itself. Actually the Court gave three full instructions on this subject—No. 12, No. 13, and No. 14. A reading of all these three instructions taken together—as they must be—shows that the District Court fully and clearly told the jury what the law was—all in accordance with the well established rules discussed above.

The appellant's contention as to this point is wholly without merit.

II.

Under the pleadings and in accordance with the evidence presented on the contributory negligence of the plaintiff, the District Court was not only wholly justified but compelled to instruct the jury on that subject, particularly when the plaintiff-appellant himself requested such instructions; and the Court's instructions, so given, are entirely correct.

(Instructions Nos. 7, 8, 9 and 10.)

The answer of the defendants contains the following affirmative defense of contributory negligence, (A. 11-12) :

“Further answering the complaint of plaintiff and by way of an affirmative defense thereto the defendants allege that on the 23rd day of December, A. D. 1938, the plaintiff was standing on the travelled portion of the highway at about 2330 South Highland Drive in Salt Lake City, Utah, and while being so then and there, and immediately prior to and at the time of the accident alleged in the complaint, the plaintiff acted in a negligent, careless, imprudent manner in this: that at said time and place the plaintiff failed to observe any lookout for vehicles passing the point where he was standing and took no precautions whatsoever to protect himself against being injured in any manner by said vehicles so passing while the plaintiff was then and there standing in the travelled portion of the said highway; that if a small wheel from the hand-truck attached to the defendant's truck did become detached therefrom and strike the plaintiff's leg, then such accident and collision was the sole proximate result of the

negligence and carelessness of the plaintiff as hereinabove set forth and was not caused proximately or at all by any negligent act or omission on the part of the defendants or either of them.”

Under this defense the defendants offered a substantial amount of evidence showing the plaintiff to be guilty of contributory negligence, both by their own witnesses and by cross examination of the plaintiff’s witnesses.

The Court should bear these facts in mind: The scene of the accident was two blocks south of the tremendously busy Sugar House business district on Highland Drive. The time was two days before Christmas when the traffic was unusually heavy. Highland Drive at this point is a busy thoroughfare much travelled by motor vehicles. The plaintiff drove over the scene of the accident four or five times a week and personally knew of the heavy traffic. The plaintiff was standing in the street—in the travelled portion of the highway and not on the sidewalk.

Surely under such conditions a person is required to take some measures to protect himself. Yet the plaintiff admitted on cross examination that he did absolutely nothing to save himself from any traffic injury. Let him speak for himself, (T. 28-30) :

Q. “You were conversant with the condition of traffic on that street?

A. I stopped at that address—

Q. I mean in general?

A. (Continued). Approximately four or five times a week.

Q. And have done for some time?

A. Yes.

Q. You also knew that on two days before Christmas there would be more traffic than usual there, at 4:30 in the afternoon, didn't you? That is a busy time of the day on that street, isn't it?

A. If there is any busy time that is when it would be.

Q. There is a lot of traffic—you know that—on Highland Drive just below 21st South?

A. Yes sir.

Q. Isn't that so?

A. Yes.

Q. You testified to this jury that you never looked toward the east at all, you were standing there with some flowers in your hand, as I understood your testimony, and you hadn't looked around towards the east at all before this thing hit you?

A. I wasn't contemplating going across.

Q. I didn't ask you that. I asked you if you looked towards the east at all, while you were standing there?

A. I was looking at my customer.

Q. Answer my question. You didn't look towards the east at all before this thing hit you, did you?

A. No.

Q. Did you look down the street to see if any cars were coming at all?

A. Not until I was hit.

Q. But you didn't before?

A. No.

Q. You didn't even see the truck which you say was involved in this accident until it had passed you, you say, one hundred fifty to two hundred feet?

A. That is right.

Q. You didn't look to see if a truck was going by?

A. I had no occasion.

Q. Did you or didn't you, now?

A. No.

Q. Yet, standing there, two days before Christmas, on this street, with heavy traffic, knowing that cars were going back and forth all the time, both ways, you never even looked toward the east to see if there was any danger coming to you at all, did you?

A. If—

Q. Did you? Answer that 'Yes' or 'No'.

A. No. . . . "

Surely the foregoing testimony, considered in the light of the surrounding circumstances, constitutes substantial evidence on the question of the plaintiff's contributory negligence. Consequently, the District Court was required to submit such evidence to the jury with proper instructions.

It is also perfectly apparent that the proof adduced comes clearly within the scope of the defendant's answer

setting up the affirmative defense of contributory negligence. Hence the case of *Lockhead v. Jensen*, 42 Utah 99, 129 P. 347, cited in Appellant's brief, p. 19, has no application in the present case.

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